FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/16/2023 4:33 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

102570-0

Supreme Court No. 203059092

COA No. No. 83074-1-I

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### ELODIE-YOHANNA ARDES-GUISOT

Petitioner

V

### STEPHANE BLAISE BONFILS

Respondent

# **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Elodie-Yohanna Ardes-Guisot

Pro Se

Petitioner-the Appellant
C/O French Church Du Saint Esprit
111 East 60th Street #3f

New York, NY 10022
elodieyohanna@gmail.com

# TABLE OF CONTENT

<u>I.</u>	INTRODUCTION4
<u>II.</u>	IDENTITY OF MOVING PARTY4
III.	APPELLATE COURT'S DECISION/OPINION4
<u>IV.</u>	STATEMENT OF FACTS5
<u>V.</u>	QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW9
VI.	ARGUMENTS 10

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Pursuant to RAP 13.3 and 13.4, Petitioner Elodie Yohanna Ardes-Guisot respectfully petitions this Honorable Court for review of the Unpublished Opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division I (the "Appellate Court") dated 09/18/2023 (the "Opinion") and subsequent Order denying Motion for Reconsideration dated 10/17/2023 (the "Order"), both of which affirmed the King County Superior Court's dismissal of her Petition for Dissolution of Marriage on the grounds *interalia* forum non conveniens. This petition for review challenges the Appellate Court's Opinion on several key legal and factual issues and seeks a reversal of the same.

## II. <u>IDENTITY OF MOVING PARTY</u>

Elodie-Yohanna Ardes-Guisot (the "**Petitioner**" who is also referred to as the "Appellant" before the Appellate Court) respectfully seeks review of the Opinion issued by the Appellate Court.

# III. APPELLATE COURT'S DECISION/OPINION

Petitioner seeks review of the Appellate Court's UNPUBLISHED OPINION dated September 18, 2023, *Elodie Yohanna Ardes-Guisot Vs Stephane Blaise Bonfils*.

### IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

- 1. The petitioner respectfully submits this petition to challenge the adverse decision/opinion rendered by the Appellate Court, which affirmed the decision of the King County Superior Court. This decision dismissed the petitioner's Petition for Dissolution of Marriage. The dismissal by the lower courts was primarily based on the doctrine of forum non conveniens.
- By way of background, it is submitted that Elodie Yohanna Ardes-2 Guisot (the Petitioner) and Stephane Blaise Bonfils (the Respondent) married on March 7, 2011, in Nevada. Post-marriage, they established their life in Paris, France, but maintained significant connections to Washington State. In 2013, they leased their first house in Medina, Bellevue, Washington. Concurrently, a subsidiary company, Exequo Corp, was established in Bellevue, with the Petitioner assuming the roles of director, shareholder, and employee, as creative director/ Stylist within Exequo, the parent company. Subsequent to this establishment, they initiated collaborative efforts in international business ventures, engaging in extensive travel between 2013 and 2016 across the United States, Europe, and Asia. In 2015, they moved to Madrona, Washington, reflecting their commitment to establishing a life in the state. Their business interests anchored them to Washington, evidenced by their investment in and management of the company, substantiated by shared assets and operations within the state. They obtained their B1 visa in October 2014 and

their E2 visa in April 2015.

- 3. In May 2016, the Petitioner reported filed a complaint with Seattle police following an incident of domestic violence an incident of domestic violence by the Respondent in their Washington home to the Seattle Police Department. Subsequent to this incident and due to ongoing abuse, the Petitioner fled the marital home. She sought and was granted a Temporary Order of Protection in New York, which later became a 'full' final protection order in February 2019.
- In April 2018, without the petitioner's knowledge, while both parties 4. resided in the U.S. as alien residents holding E2 visas on the basis of the Exequo Corp Bellevue based in Washington State, they were simultaneously engaged in a proceeding before two New York family court judges. These proceedings involved an order of protection and a request for spousal support. To mislead the New York Family court and the petitioner, the Respondent chose not to disclose the initiation of divorce proceedings in France, which the Respondent voluntarily sent to an address that was not the petitioner's home address, even though he was fully aware of the Petitioner's New York address. In a motion opposing the payment of spousal support, the defendant explicitly stated the petitioner's address in New York. The litigation over this marriage has been ongoing for the past several, mainly due to the fact that the respondent never served the petitioner with the French divorce proceedings, as required by international regulations for people living in other

countries under visa status. The respondent initiated divorce proceedings in France without even notifying the New York family court judges or the attorneys involved in the 2 different cases. The Petitioner, however, was deeply rooted in the United States seeking legal remedies against the Respondent. Unaware of the French proceedings.

- 5. After being stabbed and assaulted on the streets of New York, and a year of recovery, both physical and psychological, during the challenging year of Covid, and the slow reopening of institutions, the Petitioner filed for dissolution of marriage in King County Superior Court, Washington, in December 2020, citing Washington as the proper forum due to her established residency, the location of shared marital assets, and the couple's business interests in the state.
- 6. The trial court of King County Superior Court dismissed the Petitioner's petition on the doctrine of forum non conveniens, asserting that France was a more appropriate forum. This decision was affirmed by the Appellate Court, which overlooked crucial aspects of the Petitioner's connection to Washington, her inability to effectively pursue the case in France, and the relevance of Washington law to the marital dispute.
- 7. The Petitioner contests the lower courts' including Appellate Court decisions, arguing that they failed to properly consider the significant ties both parties have to Washington, the difficulties and inequities of litigating in France,

and the substantial evidence supporting Washington's jurisdiction over the dissolution proceedings. Furthermore, the Petitioner asserts that her constitutional rights to access the courts and due process were inadequately considered in the appellate court's decision.

- 8. The Petitioner contends that the application of forum non conveniens was fundamentally flawed, disregarding Washington's substantial interest in the case and the Petitioner's significant ties to the state. Notably, the Petitioner and Respondent maintained a marital domicile in Washington State, were co-owners and co-managers of a business entity within the State, and held substantial property interests there. The certificate issued by the Seattle police unmistakably underscores the assaults and harassments by the Respondant.
- 9. The lower courts' decisions failed to consider the private interest factors, such as the ease of access to proof, the cost of obtaining attendance of willing witnesses, and the enforceability of a foreign judgment, as well as public interest factors, including the local interest in adjudicating local disputes and applying Washington law to Washington residents. These failures represent a departure from established precedents set forth by the Washington Supreme Court in cases such as *In re Marriage of Owen*, 126 Wn. App. 487, and *Myers v. Boeing Co.*, 115 Wn.2d 123, and the U.S. Supreme Court in *Gulf Oil Corp. v. Gilbert*, 330 U.S. 501, and *Piper Aircraft Co. v. Reyno*, 454 U.S. 235.

10. Moreover, the Opinion of the Appellate Court and the Trial Court's decision have effectively deprived the Petitioner of her constitutional rights, including the right to access the courts and to due process, especially concerning her pursuit of legal redress as a victim of alleged domestic violence—a matter of significant public policy interest in Washington.

# V. QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Appellate Court commit legal error by affirming the trial court's dismissal of the Petitioner's dissolution petition based on forum non conveniens without a comprehensive analysis of private and public interest factors required by law and precedent, especially, under *In re Marriage of Owen*, 126 Wn. App. 487, and the Supreme Court's guidance in *Gulf Oil Corp. v. Gilbert, 330 U.S. 501*, and *Piper Aircraft Co. v. Reyno, 454 U.S. 235*?
- 2. Did the Appellate Court err in affirming the trial court's determination regarding the lack of personal jurisdiction over the Respondent and the existence of an adequate alternative forum, contrary to the evidence demonstrating the Respondent's substantial connections to Washington and the inadequacies of the French forum, as outlined in RCW 4.28.185 (long-arm statute) and *Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz*, 471 U.S. 462 (1985)?
  - 3. Did the Appellate Court decision to affirm the dismissal of the

Petitioner's petition without addressing her constitutional challenges violate her rights under the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment and Article I, Section 10 of the Washington State Constitution, especially considering the state's interest in domestic relations and the protection of victims of domestic violence?

### VI. <u>ARGUMENTS</u>

# A. <u>ERRONEOUS APPLICATION OF FORUM NON CONVENIENS</u> DOCTRINE

- 1. The appellate court's endorsement of the trial court's dismissal under the forum non conveniens doctrine failed to adhere to the legal standards and factors established in case law. This doctrine, as articulated in *Piper Aircraft Co. v. Reyno*, 454 U.S. 235 (1981), is not an unconditional ground for dismissal but a carefully balanced judicial determination. The appellate court overlooked this nuanced approach, resulting in a miscarriage of justice.
- 2. The doctrine is a narrow exception, reserved for exceptional circumstances (*Gulf Oil Corp. v. Gilbert*, 330 U.S. 501, 1947), which were not adequately demonstrated in this case. The balance of both private and public interest factors did not clearly favor France over Washington, contrary to the conclusions of the Appellate Court.
  - 3. The Appellate Court did not sufficiently address the factors outlined in

Myers v. Boeing Co., 115 Wn.2d 123 (1990), and In re Marriage of Owen, 126 Wn. App. at 505-06. The Court of Appeal's decision did not sufficiently address the factors outlined in these cases. These factors include the following:

- The relative ease of access to proof
- The availability and cost of obtaining attendance of witnesses
- The possibility of a view of the premises
- The enforceability of a judgment if one is obtained
- The relative advantages and obstacles to a fair trial
- The other practical problems that make a trial easy, expeditious, and inexpensive
- The administrative difficulties flowing from court congestion
- The local interest in having localized controversies decided at home
- The appropriateness of having a trial of a diversity case in a forum that is at home with the state law that must govern the action
- The avoidance of unnecessary problems in conflicts of laws or in the application of foreign law
- The unfairness of burdening citizens in an unrelated forum with jury duty

Some of the key factors from the above list, such as the availability of evidence, enforceability of judgment, administrative difficulties, and the local

interest in resolving domestic disputes within Washington, were not properly weighed in the current case. The Petitioner's ability to access justice and effectively litigate her case was significantly impeded by the dismissal. Washington State's interest in adjudicating this dispute was not given due consideration, undermining the state's commitment to protect and provide justice for victims of domestic abuse.

The Appellate Court also failed to consider the hardship and 4 inconvenience that the Petitioner would face if forced to litigate her case in France, where she has no ties, no familiarity with the legal system, and no access to adequate legal representation. The Petitioner would also be subjected to the risk of inconsistent judgments, as the French court would not be bound by the rulings of the Washington courts on the issues of spousal support and domestic violence protection orders. The Petitioner would also be deprived of the benefits of Washington's community property laws, which recognize the equal contribution of both spouses to the marital estate and provide for a fair and equitable distribution of assets and liabilities. The Petitioner would also be denied the opportunity to present her case to a jury of her peers, as the French court does not provide for jury trials in dissolution cases. These factors demonstrate that the Petitioner has a strong interest in maintaining her action in Washington, and that the dismissal for forum non conveniens would cause her undue prejudice and hardship.

# B. RELIANCE ON UNSUPPORTED FACTUAL FINDINGS AND ERROR IN INTERPRETATION OF JURISDICTIONAL REQUIREMENTS

- 5. The Appellate Court's Opinion relied on unsupported factual findings regarding the adequacy of the French forum and the Respondent's ties to Washington. As outlined in *Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz*, 471 U.S. 462 (1985), and RCW 4.28.185, the Respondent's substantial connections to Washington establish personal jurisdiction, a critical factor disregarded by the appellate court.
- 6. The lower court and Appellate Court's interpretation of RCW 4.28.185 was too narrow, overlooking the broader implications of the Respondent's business and personal ties to Washington, which establish a significant connection to the state. The Respondent co-owned and co-directed a Washington-based company with the Petitioner, which generated substantial income and assets within the state. The Respondent also maintained a marital home in Washington, where he resided with the Petitioner. The Respondent also engaged in conduct that gave rise to the Petitioner's claims for spousal support and domestic violence protection orders in Washington. These facts show that the Respondent purposefully availed himself of the benefits and protections of Washington law, and that he could reasonably anticipate being haled into court in Washington. See *Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz*, 471 U.S. at 474-76; RCW 4.28.185(1)(b),(c),(d)

- 7. The Appellate Court overlooked crucial evidence submitted by the Petitioner, contradicting the trial court's findings on jurisdiction and the development of the dissolution proceedings in France. This omission led to a flawed understanding of the case's facts and an unjust dismissal.
- 8. The Appellate Court simply stated that in its Opinion that the Petitioner "fails to demonstrate that the trial court abused its discretion" and that she "fails to provide any explanation of why a parallel dissolution action should commence in Washington." However, the Court did not explain how the trial court properly balanced the private and public interest factors under *Owen*. The Court also did not acknowledge that the Petitioner provided several explanations of why Washington was a proper and convenient forum for her dissolution action, such as:
  - a. Washington was the last place where she and the Respondent resided as a couple, and she had established domicile and residency in Washington since 2015/2016.
  - b. Washington had personal jurisdiction over both parties, as they had lived in a marital relationship within this state and had maintained contacts with this state since 2013 in their First house in Seattle Medina, Washington and the establishment of a subsidiary in 2013 on which their visas were both linked since 2015.
  - c. Washington had subject matter jurisdiction over the dissolution of

- marriage and the division of property, as it was a community property state and had an interest in protecting the rights of its residents.
- d. Washington had a strong public policy interest in providing access to justice and expeditious resolution of marital status and property rights, especially for victims of domestic violence like the Petitioner.
- e. France was not an adequate alternative forum, as it did not recognize community property or spousal support, and it applied different rules of evidence and procedure that would prejudice the Petitioner's case.
- f. The Respondent had engaged in forum shopping and delay tactics by filing for divorce in France after he learned that the Petitioner had filed for spousal support and then dissolution in in the US.
- g. The dissolution proceeding in France was not well developed or ongoing, as it had been stalled by the Respondent's failure to cooperate and comply with discovery requests, such as his non-existent taxes in France or the USA since the sale of the companies for a person who is domiciled in his former company currently owned by Lionbridge, an American corporation based in 60 Countries including Washington State. The Respondent has always refused to disclose his residence to the courts in Paris, Washington and New York.
- h. The Petitioner had not accepted jurisdiction in France through her

conduct, as she had only sought interim measures to protect her rights as automatically ordered by the French courts pending the resolution of her dissolution action in Washington.

By overlooking or misapprehending these points of law and fact, this court committed a reversible error and deprived the Petitioner of her right to have her case heard on its merits in Washington. Therefore, this court should reconsider its decision and reverse the trial court's dismissal for forum non conveniens.

# C. <u>VIOLATION OF CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO ACCESS</u> <u>COURTS</u>

- 9. The Appellate court's decision failed to consider the Petitioner's constitutional right to access the courts, as protected under both federal and state constitutions (*In re Marriage of King*, 162 Wn.2d 378, 2007; *Boddie v. Connecticut*, 401 U.S. 371, 1971). This right is crucial for an individual seeking justice in marital disputes, particularly in cases involving domestic violence.
- 10. By not addressing the Petitioner's constitutional challenges, the Appellate Court's decision contravenes fundamental principles of due process. This oversight not only affects the Petitioner's ability to seek justice but also sets a concerning precedent for future cases involving similar jurisdictional and

constitutional issues.

- right, but a substantive one that implicates her liberty and property interests. See *Boddie v. Connecticut*, 401 U.S. at 376-77. The Petitioner has a liberty interest in obtaining a legal dissolution of her marriage, which affects her personal status and identity. See *In re Marriage of King*, 162 Wn.2d at 385. The Petitioner also has a property interest in obtaining a fair and equitable distribution of the marital assets and liabilities, as well as spousal support, which affect her economic well-being and security. See id. at 386. The dismissal of her petition for dissolution in Washington effectively forecloses these interests, as the French forum does not provide the same substantive and procedural protections as the Washington forum. See id. at 387-88.
- 12. The Petitioner's right to access the courts is also not merely a personal right, but a public one that implicates the state's interest in the administration of justice. See *Richmond Newspapers, Inc. v. Virginia*, 448 U.S. 555, 575-76 (1980). The state has an interest in ensuring that its courts are open and accessible to all who seek redress of grievances, especially in matters of domestic relations, which are traditionally within the state's domain. See id. at 580-81; *Sherrer v. Sherrer*, 334 U.S. 343, 353 (1948). The state also has an interest in protecting the rights and safety of victims of domestic violence, which are matters of significant public policy and concern. See RCW 26.50.010; *In re Marriage of King*, 162 Wn.2d at 389-90. The

dismissal of the Petitioner's petition for dissolution in Washington undermines these interests, as it deprives the state of its opportunity to exercise its jurisdiction and apply its laws to a dispute that arose within its borders and involved its residents.

# D. <u>DUE PROCESS CONCERNS IN HANDLING FRAUD AND</u> <u>FORGERY CLAIMS</u>

13. The Appellate Court's failure to address the Petitioner's submissions relating to fraud and forgery in the evidence presented by the Respondent raises significant due process concerns and merits intervention by the Supreme Court.

# E. <u>MISINTERPRETATION</u> OF ADEQUATE ALTERNATIVE FORUM:

14. The Appellate Court erred in accepting the trial court's assertion that France was an adequate alternative forum, overlooking the principles established in *Piper Aircraft Co. v. Reyno*, 454 U.S. 235 (1981), which requires a genuine and fair opportunity for litigation in the alternative forum.

VII. CONCLUSION

In view of the serious errors in applying the forum non conveniens 15.

doctrine, misinterpreting jurisdictional requirements, and overlooking

constitutional rights, the Petitioner respectfully requests this Honorable Court to

grant the Petition for Review. The decision of the Appellate Court may kindly be

reversed, and the case remanded to the trial court for proceedings that fully respect

the legal standards and uphold the Petitioner's rights and interests under Washington

law.

I certify that this petition for review contains 3227 words in compliance with RAP

18.17, excluding the exempted sections under the Rule.