FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/22/2024 8:00 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 102570-0 Court of Appeals, Division 1 No. 83074-1-I

WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

ELODIE YOHANNA ARDES-GUISOT,

Appellant,

V.

STEPHANE BLAISE BONFILS,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Brian Christopher Zuanich WSBA #43877 Attorney for Appellant

ZUANICH LAW PLLC 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2200 Seattle, WA 98101 206.829.8415 brian@zuanichlaw.com

I. Introduction

The parties have been litigating their divorce in France for years. And yet, the wife also filed for divorce in Washington—a state in which neither party has a personal, financial, or legal connection. The trial court correctly dismissed the wife's petition under the doctrine of forum non conveniens, and the Court of Appeals correctly ruled that the trial court did not abuse its discretion. This Court should deny review.

II. Court of Appeals Decision

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision issued on September 8, 2023, <u>In</u> re Marriage of Ardes-Guisot, No. 83074-1-I, which is attached as Appendix A.

III. Restatement of the Case

Stephane Bonfils and Elodie Yohanna Ardes-Guisot are French nationals. **(CP 168)** They lived together in France for several years. (CP 3). In March 2011, the parties married in Nevada. (CP 3).

In 2015, Bonfils relocated temporarily to
Washington for business. (CP 275) Ardes-Guisot
remained in France. (CP 101). She later moved to
New York for work. (CP 742)

In April 2018, Bonfils petitioned a French court for divorce. (CP 601) The divorce is still pending. ¹
(CP 170-71) Since the case started, Ardes-Guisot has filed several hundred pages of documents in the French case, including a motion for spousal support and a motion to appoint an expert to review the parties' finances. (CP 587, 604).

¹ In the Court of Appeals, Ardes-Guisot asserted that the French courts had dismissed the divorce case in November 2021. (App. 2). Notably, EYAG appears to have abandoned this argument in this petition for judicial review, stating that "litigation over this marriage has been ongoing for several years." (Pet. 6).

In December 2018, Bonfils left Washington when his work visa expired. **(CP 9).** He eventually settled in Costa Rica on an extended tourist visa, where he lived for the next several years, although he returned to France periodically. **(CP 83, 579).**

In December 2020, Ardes-Guisot filed a petition for dissolution in King County Superior Court. (CP 3-6) At the time, Ardes-Guisot was living in New York. ² (CP 3)

In August 2021, the trial court dismissed the divorce petition on the basis of forum non conveniens.

(CP 168-171) The trial court found that Ardes-Guisot has "actively participated" in the pending divorce case in France. The trial court also noted that the "evidence"

² In her petition for review, Ardes-Guisot claims that she had "established residency" in Washington by this point. (Pet. 7). As the Court of Appeals correctly ruled, she "does not provide evidentiary support" for this assertion. (App. 4).

and witnesses relevant to the [marriage] are centered in France." (CP 170) The trial court thus concluded that the parties could receive "full and complete justice" in French court and that Washington "would be a very inconvenient forum" for this divorce. (CP 170)

The Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's order of dismissal. (App. 1) At the outset of its opinion, the court noted that Ardes-Guisot did not challenge any of the trial court's factual findings, which includes the specific finding that she had been "actively participating" in the French case (App 6)

The court ruled that Ardes-Guisot "fails to provide any explanation why a parallel dissolution should commence in Washington." (App 7) For these reasons, the court held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion. (App 1)

EYAG timely filed this petition for review.

IV. Argument

This Court will only accept a petition for review in limited circumstances. RAP 13.4(b). Ardes-Guisot's brief does not explain the basis for her petition, although she appears to argue that, under RAP 13.4(b)(1), the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's prior opinions on forum non conveniens. (Pet. 10-12) To the extent she makes this argument, it is without merit.

This Court reviews a trial court's order dismissing a case based on forum non conveniens doctrine for abuse of discretion. Myers v. Boeing Co., 115 Wn.2d 123, 128, 794 P.3d 1272 (1990). A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or reasons. Shrauner v. Olsen, 16 Wash.App. 2d 384, 401, 483 P.3d 815 (2020). A trial court does not abuse its

discretion unless its decision "is outside the range of acceptable choices, given the facts and applicable legal standard." In re Parenting & Support of C.A.S., 25 Wn. App. 2d, 21, 26, 522 P.3d 75 (2022).

In determining which forum should preside over the case, the trial court should keep in mind that there is a "local interest in having localized controversies decided at home." Myers, 115 Wn.2d at 128 (citing Gulf Oil Corp. v. Gilbert, 330 U.S. 501, 508-09, 67 S.Ct. 839, 91 L.Ed 1055 (1947)). A trial court should also consider the following factors:

The relative ease of access to the sources of proof; availability of compulsory process for attendance of unwilling, and the cost of obtaining attendance of willing, witnesses; possibility of view of premises, if view would be appropriate to the action; and all other practical problems that make trial of a case easy, expeditions, and inexpensive.

<u>Id.</u> (internal citations omitted).

Ardes-Guisot's principal argument is that the

Court of Appeals "did not sufficiently address" the

factors governing forum non conveniens. (App 10-11)

This argument fails on two main grounds.

Fist, and most importantly, Ardes-Guisot did not assign error to any of the trial court's factual findings.

Therefore, as the Court of Appeals emphasized, its only job was to determine whether "the trial court's unchallenged findings support" its conclusion that

France was a more convenient forum for the parties divorce than Washington. (App 6) And given the trial court's unchallenged findings, the Court of Appeals could very easily have arrived at this conclusion.

Second, her argument misconstrues the record.

Ardes-Guisot, for instance, asserts that the Court of

Appeals did not consider such factors as the "relative

ease of access to proof" and the availability of security witness testimony in France. (Pet. 11). But the trial court considered these factors explicitly, ruling that the witnesses and exhibits in the case were all "centered" in France. (CP 170)

V. Conclusion

This Court should deny Ardes-Guisot's petition for review.

I certify that this Brief contains 1,020 words, in compliance with RAP 18.17(b).